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open-fronted lean-to gave waiting passengers shelter, a
thoughitiul provision on oceasions when the ferry was delayerd
due to personal business pursued by the ferrymen when on
the opposite side. The hoat was n coble, flnt-bottomed and
propelled by the ferrymnan using two oars. The grave of ‘Jock
{Jumbo) the Ferry' can be found in the old churchynfd at

9( Dingwall.

I'he obvious point (o cross the exposed ane treacherous

Dorvoch Firth was the narrow passuge nt the Meikle ferry. |

The Great Notth Roadl, connecting with the Meikle fcrry.-
was the shortest route to Thurso and Wick but {he dangers
experienced at the fervy often persuaded fravellers to take
the much longer but safer way via the Bonar Bridge. Not
only was the Meikle ferry a notorious crossing but the
vaguries of the tide frequently left boats stranded on
sandbuanks. Oue of the first references to the Meijkle ferry,
kuown earlier as Porlincouller, is in a charter dated 4th
Q March 1560, by Alan Ross of Balnagowan in favour of Donald
Dingwall, natural son of Alexander Dingwall, prebendary
choplain of Cambuscurry, who was no doubt aware of the
strategic value of the ferry location.

During the seventeenth century, when both the pros and
cous of the Covenanting cause were receiving local support,
the Mcikle ferry was [requently usced for the transportation
of troops. The captive Mumrquis of Montrose was hustled
across the ferry on his way 1o '[ain, the south anl subsequent
death. A century later during the 1745 uprising, the ferry
man, McGill, acted as a reliable spy for the government h;'
reporting the positions held by the rehel forces. FEventually,
he suffered retribution when his ferry boaits were destroyed
and only escaped with his life. Nevertheless, his information
enabled Lovds Loudoun and Forbes to organise the assembly
of all availuble ferry bonis at the Tain side of the ferry in
order to evacnate their troops ot the most appropriste l{nlc.
thus taking the Jacobite forces by surprise.

‘Towards the end of the cighteenth century, 1he Statistical
Accoqnt states that the Meikle ferry was served, on cach side,
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by ‘a large boat for transporting carriages, horses and other
cattle; as also a yawl for the accommodation of foot
pussengers’. Caltle were encouraged to swim over the passage
but ofien the beasts refused to go into the water because i
was 50 cold. Consequently, they had to be Jerried across,
cawsing much delay and extra effort. It is said that drovers
could foretell the outcome of the markel according to the
willingness of the cattle to swim or not; il the beasts swam,
prices would be high, but if not, there would he little profit.
By the beginning of the next cenfury, the Melkle fervy bud
been worked by three generations of the PPalience fainily but
they had seen few improvesnents during thal time. The boats
were in a8 poor stale with frayed ropes, torn sails and defective
rudders; therc was no proper quay for landiug and delays
were insufferable even 1o the most tolerant traveller. Stroung
argnments for the building of a bridge were consistently
ipnored until, in 1812, Tellord erected an iron bridge at
Bonar at a cost of £13,971. This was built after a public outery
al conditions at the Meikle ferry lollowing an eppalling
accident there {n 1809. James Milchell, the famous civil
engineer, unwittingly witnessed the scene as he arrived 1oo
late 1o catch the ferry boat which had just set sail.

Late in the alterncon of 16th August 1809, the day of the
great Lammas Fair io Tain, Hugh McCulloch, sheriff-
substitute, came to the Meikle ferry. The shore was crowded
with people returning home from the fair. On McCulloch's
arrival he was quickly sented in the stern of the ferry yaw!
followed by a pushing, pressing throng all anxious to be
taken across the water. McCnlloch became apprehensive
about the numbers crowding aboard and even turned away
about forty folk. Still the boat was overladen but the water
was deid calin and the ferrymen set snil. When the boat was
bolfway ncross the passege water gushed in, the boat sank
and uninety-nine people, drowned, including the sherifi-
substitute; only twelve survived. Another accident occurred
on 28th October 1835 when the ferry hoat wus holed and
sank. On this occasion there were sevenieen passengers
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:,hoard but only one, J. H. Richardson, a shipping secretary
from North Shields, was drowned. The ferryman .;;howe&
greut presence of mind by using a small boat mooved nearby
lo rescue the remuinder of the passengers, ’
In spite of these tragedies and 1he bl;ilding of the bridge at
Bonar, traflic at the Meik)e ferry continued to be sulliciently
heavy o merit a design by Stevenson for a bridge over the
Dt.rmoch Firth. However, as no money was for!hcuming to
build the bridge, the project was abandoned. Kven the mail
coach, drawn by two horses, used the ferry until the 1850s
wh-cn the increasing delays dictated re-routing via BOI‘IHI‘
Bridge. Still the Jerry continued to operale, und in the early
utfcnli.clh century the Contour Guide books gave r.lea:'
dlr('}(:tl(]lls to travellers: "The bpats are on the north side
Hoist ﬂ?g on the south side. This is an exposed [erry. and.
luseless in slorm): wedther'. There was a finther warning:
Motor cars carried when water suits the big boat only’
Sub.sequeml)r. only passengers were carried, with the lgzlé
review lsonclnding that *there is not sufficient demand . . . for
the institution of a vehicular ferry .. " It was not until 8th
Januvary 1986 that the long-pwaited promise of a bridge was
ple<.|ged with the announcement of g competition for the
design of a bridge over the Domoch Firth. Jt is to be 800
melres I.ong and will cost hetween £11 million and £16 million
approximately. Although the conipletion of this bridge will
no don.bl be welcomed by locat people and travellers alike
!he anclent Meikle lerry will always have an important plar(;
m the history of Easter Rpss, '
Two additional ferties were employed on passages over
.Ihc narrow entrance to Loch Fleet at Little Ferry and at the
port of Unes' on Lake Unes north of Dornoch, One boat at
Ll?tlc Ferry was served by four ferrymen but the ferry came
brieflly to prominence during the 1745 uprising only. In
1746, the Earl of Cromarty und bis men were urgently
summoned to join Prince Gharles Edward at ) nverness, hut
when they reached Liule Ferry they were suddenly attacked.
Lu the confusion the Earl and his officers retreated hastily (o
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Dunrobin Castle but the men crammed into the only
available ferry boat 10 try 1o escape. The boat became quickly
overcrowded, and those who conld not climh sbourd clung
on to the sides to be pulled through the water. The bont was
in great danger of capsizing until those soldiers who were
aboard drew their dirks and hacked off the fingers of the
others clinging to the gunwales. Muny died. The following
day, the Battle of Culloden was fought and perhaps the lack
of reinforcements from the north due to this adversily may
have contributed to the defeat of the Prince.

The fervy boat at Lake Uties was in use by 1467 when
Marguret, Countess of Sutherland, a daughter of the Easl of
Ross, Lord of the Isles, was returning home to Dunrobin
Castle at Golspie. Her husband John, the third Earl of
Sutherlund, recorded that when the Countess was on the
ferry in the middle of the passage, a severe storm arose,
overturning the boat and throwing the lady into the water.
She was washed up on the shore, still ‘with some lyif in her’.
There she was found by a fugitive, John Dairg, who
recognised her as someone of great importance. For some
nnknown reason he ‘prompily dispatched her, then fled, bt
had little chance of escape as the distraught Earl carried oul
a thorough search for his wife’s murderer. fohn Dairg was
exccuted almost as soon as the Countess was buried in the
churchyard st Golspie. ‘U'le ferry continued 1o operate, with
records showing that, in 1630, the annual rent for the
privilege of leasing the passage hoal was 40 bolls of barley ‘to
be delivered at the ferry of Unes or the girnel of Golspie'.

The replacement of ferries by bridges on these north-
eastern estuories has spanned many decades, from the
building of the Bonar Bridge over the Dornoch Firth in 1812
to the anticipated completion of the Dornoch Bridge in the
late 1980s. Current, sophisticated, convenient travel across
all these firths cannof blot nut the memory of the struggle,
effort and sacrifice that bedevilled the ferry servives which
provided access to the most northerly parts of Scotland.
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